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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC11-02417 
CASE NAME: CA FAIR PLAN ASSOC VS GARNES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ATTNY FEES FILED BY MARLENE GARNES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear at 10:30 AM. 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC11-02417 
CASE NAME: CA FAIR PLAN ASSOC VS GARNES 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear at 10:30 AM.   

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00858 
CASE NAME: CAVENDER VS. WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of CAVENDER FILED 
BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Before the Court is a Demurrer filed by Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo” or 
“Defendant”). The Demurrer relates to the First Amended Complaint filed by Mark A. Cavender 
and Pamela J. Cavendar (collectively, “Plaintiffs”). The FAC pleads causes of action for (1) 
promissory estoppel; (2) fraud; (3) negligent misrepresentation; (4) negligence; (5) wrongful 
foreclosure; (6) violations of Business & Professions Code § 17200, et seq.; and (7) violation of 
HBOR (Civil Code § 2923.7).  

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, without leave to amend. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendants request judicial notice of several Contra Costa County Recorder documents as well 

as pleadings from other actions in Contra Costa County as well as the Northern District of 

California. The Court notes that this Request is not tabbed, in violation of Cal. Rules of Court, 

rule 3.1110, subd. (f). See also Local Rule 3.42, subd. (3). Defendant is directed to tab its 

exhibits in all future filings or risk monetary sanctions. 

The Request is unopposed. The Request is granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453. The Court notes 

that certified copies of recorded documents are self-authenticating. Evid. Code §§ 1530, 1600; 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   06/07/18 

 
 

- 2 - 

see also Fontenot v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 256, 264-65, disapproved 

on another point by Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp. (2016) 62 Cal.4th 919 

(“Yvanova”).  

Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420. A complaint “is sufficient if it 
alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 
550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with 
reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, 
source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. 
Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099. Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. 
at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the 
complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” 
California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247. “The existence 
and scope of duty are legal questions for the court.” Merrill v. Navegar, Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 
465, 477. 

Analysis 

Promissory Estoppel 

The elements of a promissory estoppel claim are “(1) a promise clear and unambiguous in its 
terms; (2) reliance by the party to whom the promise is made; (3) [the] reliance must be both 
reasonable and foreseeable; and (4) the party asserting the estoppel must be injured by his 
reliance.” Jones v. Wachovia Bank (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 935, 945. 

There does not appear to be any change from Plaintiffs’ prior complaint: the basis for Plaintiffs’ 
promissory estoppel claim appears to be an alleged promise by Wells Fargo to review their loan 
modification application in good faith. FAC at ¶ 25. Not only is the alleged promise insufficiently 
clear and unambiguous to support a promissory estoppel claim (see Laks v. Coast Fed. Sav. & 
Loan Assn. (1976) 60 Cal.App.3d 885, 891), it also appears to be a conditional commitment to 
“provide Plaintiffs with a loan modification if they qualified for one.” This is insufficient. 

Plaintiff has not alleged facts sufficient to state a cause of action for promissory estoppel. 

Fraud 

“Each element in a cause of action for fraud … must be factually and specifically alleged.” Cadlo 
v. Owens-Illinois, Inc. (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513, 519. In a fraud claim against a corporation, a 
plaintiff must allege the names of the persons who made the misrepresentations, their authority 
to speak for the corporation, to whom they spoke, what they said or wrote, and when it was said 
or written. Lazar v. Superior Court (1996) 12 Cal.4th 631, 645. The FAC lacks this detail. 
Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for fraud. 

Negligent Misrepresentation 

The elements of negligent misrepresentation are (1) a misrepresentation, which includes a 
concealment or nondisclosure; (2) knowledge of the falsity of the misrepresentation, i.e., 
scienter; (3) justifiable reliance; and (4) resulting damages. See Cadlo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc. 
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(2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513, 519. “Each element in a cause of action for … negligent 
misrepresentation must be factually and specifically alleged.” Id. 

Once again, Plaintiffs have failed to allege a specific factual representation. Their general 
allegation that a “Wells Fargo made certain representations to Plaintiffs … and asserted them to 
be true” (FAC at ¶ 54) is insufficient. While Plaintiffs have amended to include a recitation of the 
names of twenty alleged Wells Fargo representatives, there is no additional detail regarding who 
made a factual representation and when. As a consequence, Plaintiffs have failed to state facts 
sufficient to constitute a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation. 

Negligence  

To state a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the defendant owed the 
plaintiff a duty of care; (2) the defendant breached that duty, and (3) the breach proximately 
caused the plaintiff’s damages or injuries. Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 
Cal. App. 4th 49, 62. “The existence of a duty of care owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is a 
prerequisite to establish a claim for negligence.” Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Ass’n 
(1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1096.  

A lender may owe a borrower duties of care under Civil Code § 1714. See Daniels v. Select 
Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (6th Dist. 2016) 246 Cal. App. 4th 1150, 1158, 1180-1182; Alvarez v. 
BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (1st Dist. 2014) 228 Cal. App. 4th 941, 944-949; Jolley v. 
Chase Home Finance, LLC (1st Dist. 2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872. 

Plaintiff’s negligence allegations center on Defendant’s alleged improper review and processing 
of Plaintiff’s loan modification application. See FAC at ¶¶ 68-75. However, despite the 
opportunity to amend, the FAC fails to allege how that alleged negligent conduct caused 
Plaintiffs’ default. In the absence of such a nexus, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to 
state a cause of action for negligence. 

Wrongful Foreclosure 

The elements of a cause of action for wrongful foreclosure are “‘(1) the trustee or mortgagee 
caused an illegal, fraudulent, or willfully oppressive sale of real property pursuant to a power of 
sale in a mortgage or deed of trust; (2) the party attacking the sale (usually but not always the 
trustor or mortgagor) was prejudiced or harmed; and (3) in cases where the trustor or mortgagor 
challenges the sale, the trustor or mortgagor tendered the amount of the secured indebtedness 
or was excused from tendering.’ [Citation.]” Miles v. Deutsche Bank National Trust Co. (2015) 
236 Cal.App.4th 394, 408, quoting Lona v. Citibank, N.A. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 89, 104. 

Previously, the basis for Plaintiffs’ wrongful foreclosure claim was their dual tracking allegations. 
However, as the Court stated in its prior order, Plaintiffs cannot state a claim under former Civil 
Code § 2923.6. As a consequence, Plaintiffs now rely on an alleged violation of Civil Code 
§ 2923.5(a) to support their unlawful foreclosure claim.  

Civil Code § 2923.5 precludes a mortgage servicer, mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or 
authorized agent from recording a Notice of Default without meeting several contact 
requirements and waiting a proscribed period of time. 

With respect to § 2923.5, HBOR only provides relief for a “material” violation of the statute. Civ. 
Code § 2924.12. Plaintiffs’ allegations do not present a material violation of this statute. 
Plaintiffs allege that “[n]one of the Defendants assessed Plaintiffs’ financial situation correctly or 
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in good faith prior to filing the Notice of Default against the Subject Property in this action.” FAC 
at ¶ 82. Notably absent is any allegation that Defendants failed to contact Plaintiffs. 

Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts sufficient to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of 
action for wrongful foreclosure. 

Violations of Business & Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

California’s unfair competition law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 
unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 
practice. § 17200. A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person who has suffered injury 
in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 
§ 17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 
deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that 
the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the 
gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 
(“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under the UCL. See Korea Supply 
Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

The alleged unfair conduct complained of appears to be Defendants alleged negligent review 
and process of Plaintiffs’ loan modification application. However, despite the opportunity to 
amend, Plaintiffs’ FAC is once again bereft of allegations which would demonstrate economic 
injury and causation. Their conclusory allegation that “[a]s a result of Defendant’s wrongful 
conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered various damages and injuries according to proof at trial” (FAC 
at ¶ 101) is insufficient. 

In the absence of allegations that they incurred a “personal, individualized loss of money or 
property in any nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 325), such as late fees and 
penalties, that were caused by Defendant’s alleged unfair and fraudulent conduct, Plaintiff has 
not alleged facts sufficient to state a cause of action for violation of Business and Professions 
Code § 17200. 

Violation of HBOR (Civil Code § 2923.7) 

Plaintiff alleges that Wells Fargo violated Civil Code section 2923.7 because during the loan 
modification process, “Plaintiffs were forced to deal with over twenty (20) different 
representative[s] from Wells Fargo[.]” FAC at ¶ 21.  

Civil Code § 2923.7 requires a SPOC to be appointed when a borrower “requests a foreclosure 
prevention alternative,” such as a loan modification. Civ. Code § 2923.7(a). First, as Defendant 
notes, Plaintiffs do not actually allege that they requested a single point of contact, as required 
by the statute. See § 2923.7(a). Even assuming arguendo that Plaintiffs had alleged that they 
requested an SPOC, they have failed to allege any material “actual economic damages” as a 
consequence of this alleged violation. Their conclusory allegation that the twenty different 
representatives “were a direct and proximate cause of harm, injury and damage to Plaintiffs” is 
insufficient. See FAC at ¶ 108.  

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for violation of § 2923.7. 
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 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00858 
CASE NAME: CAVENDER VS. WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF PLAINTIFFS' FIRST 
AMD COMPLAINT FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Because the Court has sustained Defendant’s Demurrer without leave to amend (see Line 3, 
above) the Motion to Strike is denied as moot. 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01048 
CASE NAME: ARCH GATE VS BROWN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO CROSS COMPLAINT of BROWN FILED BY ARCH 
GATE PROPERTIES, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Cross-Defendant Arch Gate Properties, 
Inc. (“Cross-Defendant” or “Arch Gate”). The Demurrer relates to the Cross-Complaint filed by 
Cross-Complainant Johnny Brown (“Cross-Complainant” or “Brown”). The Cross-Complaint 
pleads causes of action for (1) indemnification, (2) apportionment of fault; (3) declaratory relief; 
(4) slander of title; and (5) fraud. 

Defendants demur pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 430.10(e) and (f). For the following 
reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, without leave as to the cause of action for slander of title 
and with leave as to all other causes of action. 

Legal Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420. A complaint “is sufficient if it 
alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 
550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with 
reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, 
source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. 
Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099. Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. 
at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the 
complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” 
California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247. “The existence 
and scope of duty are legal questions for the court.” Merrill v. Navegar, Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 
465, 477. 

Analysis 

As a threshold matter, uncertainty is a disfavored ground for demurring to a complaint. See, 
e.g., Khoury v. Maly’s of California (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 616; 1 Weil & Brown, Civil 
Procedure Before Trial (The Rutter Group 2011) § 7:84, p. 7-39. A demurrer for uncertainty 
generally will be sustained only when the complaint is such that the defendant cannot even 
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determine what it must respond to. Williams v. Beechnut Nutrition Corp. (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 
135, 139. The Court declines to sustain the Demurrer to the fraud cause of action the grounds of 
uncertainty. 

Indemnification and Apportionment of Fault 

Cross-Defendant argues that Cross-Complainant’s claims for indemnification and apportionment 
of fault fail because neither claim alleges any joint liability in tort. 

The Cross-Complaint does not allege facts that Arch Gate owed Brown “a duty of care sounding 
in tort.” Stop Loss Ins. Brokers, Inc. v. Brown & Toland Medical Group (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 
1036, 1041 (emphasis original). Nor can Cross-Complainant sue for equitable indemnification 
based on the theory that Arch Gate negligently performed its contract with Brown. Id. at 1042-
43. “[C]onduct amounting to a breach of contract becomes tortious only when it also violates a 
duty independent of the contract arising from principles of tort law. An omission to perform a 
contract obligation is never a tort, unless that omission is also an omission of a legal duty.” 
Erlich v. Menezes (1999) 21 Cal.4th 543, 551 (citations omitted, italics added.) 

Cross-Complainant’s theory of tort recovery is that “Cross-defendants had a fiduciary duty to 
Cross-complainant or in the alternative knew that a person in Cross-complainant’s position 
would have believed that Cross-defendants had a fiduciary duty toward Cross-complainant 
because of the ostensible real estate agent relationship among Cross-defendants and Cross-
complainant and/or because of the relationship of trust that Cross-defendants established with 
Cross-complainant.” Cross-Complaint at ¶ FR-2.b. 

Breach of fiduciary duty is a tort. The elements of a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty 
are the existence of a fiduciary relationship, its breach, and damage proximately caused by that 
breach. Pierce v. Lyman (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 1093, 1101. In order to plead a cause of action 
for breach of fiduciary duty, there must be an adequate showing of each of these elements. The 
Cross-Complaint lacks this detail. In its absence, Cross-Complainant has failed to allege facts 
sufficient to state claims for indemnification and apportionment of fault.  

The Demurrer to these causes of action is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Declaratory Relief 

Cross-Complainant’s claim for declaratory relief is derivative of his other claims. And for the 
reasons set forth herein, he has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a claim for declaratory 
relief. The Demurrer to the cause of action for declaratory relief is sustained, with leave to 
amend. 

Slander of Title 

Defendant argues that Cross-Complainant’s slander of title cause of action is barred by the 
litigation privilege as it is based on the filing of a lis pendens by Plaintiff to enforce their rights 
under the purchase agreement. In Opposition, Cross-Complainant agrees to strike this cause of 
action. The Demurrer to the cause of action for slander of title is sustained without leave to 
amend. 

Fraud 

“Each element in a cause of action for fraud … must be factually and specifically alleged.” Cadlo 
v. Owens-Illinois, Inc. (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513, 519. In a fraud claim against a corporation, a 
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plaintiff must allege the names of the persons who made the misrepresentations, their authority 
to speak for the corporation, to whom they spoke, what they said or wrote, and when it was said 
or written. Lazar v. Superior Court (1996) 12 Cal.4th 631, 645. The Cross-Complaint lacks this 
detail. 

Cross-Complainant’s reliance on Tarmann v. State Farm Nut. Auto Ins. Co. is misplaced. (1991) 
2 Cal.App.4th 153. Tarmann described the heightened burden on plaintiffs asserting a fraud 
claim against a corporation: the plaintiff must “allege the names of the persons who made the 
allegedly fraudulent representations, their authority to speak, to whom they spoke, what they 
said or wrote, and when it was said or written.” Id. at 157. Although Tarmann acknowledges that 
the requirement of specificity is relaxed when the allegations indicate that “the defendant must 
necessarily possess full information concerning the facts of the controversy,” the Tarmann court 
also found the exception inapplicable where the Defendant had no more reason to know who 
made the allegedly false representations than the plaintiff. Id. at 158. The same is true here. 

Plaintiff has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for fraud. The Demurrer 
to this cause of action is sustained, with leave to amend. 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01048 
CASE NAME: ARCH GATE VS BROWN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO CROSS COMPLAINT of BROWN FILED BY CRAIG S 
FUNCKE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Cross-Defendant Craig Funcke (“Cross-
Defendant” or “Funcke”). The Demurrer relates to the Cross-Complaint filed by Cross-
Complainant Johnny Brown (“Cross-Complainant” or “Brown”). The Cross-Complaint pleads 
causes of action for (1) indemnification, (2) apportionment of fault; (3) declaratory relief; (4) 
slander of title; and (5) fraud. 

For the same reasons as Line 5, above, the Demurrer is sustained, without leave as to the 
cause of action for slander of title and with leave as to all other causes of action. 
 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01443 
CASE NAME: ROTH VS. JOHNSON 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR PERMIT DISCOVERY OF SEXUAL ACTIVITY OF 
PLTF FILED BY LISA JOHNSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 It is unclear to the court whether Plaintiff is alleging that he contracted HPV or genital warts 
form Defendant, or that he was simply exposed to those diseases due to sexual contact with 
Defendant during their marriage. In his complaint, Plaintiff alleges exposure, but is silent as to 
whether that exposure led to his having contracted any disease. If he has not actually 
contracted either of these diseases, discovery of Plaintiff’s past sexual history would be 
precluded as there would be no possibility that he had contracted the diseases from someone 
other than Defendant. If he has contracted either of these diseases, then the motion would be 
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granted as the court finds that Defendant has made an adequate showing through specific facts 
that “there is good cause for that discovery, and that the matter sought to be discovered is 
relevant to the subject matter of the action and reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of 
admissible evidence.” CCP §2017.220. If Plaintiff has actually contracted either of these 
diseases, an investigation of whether he contracted them from someone other than plaintiff is 
clearly relevant to this case.  Plaintiff’s Motion to strike Dr. Palefsky’s declaration is denied.  
 
Appear to inform the Court of Plaintiff’s status per above.   

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01443 
CASE NAME: ROTH VS. JOHNSON 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02098 
CASE NAME: MORRIS VS JP MORGAN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of MORRIS FILED BY 
RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES, LLC, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Before the Court is a Demurrer filed by Defendant Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC 
(“Rushmore”) and Defendant U.S. Bank, National Association as Legal Title Trustee for Truman 
2016 SC6 Title Trust (“US Bank”) (collectively, “Defendants”). The Demurrer relates to the First 
Amended Complaint (“FAC”) filed by Plaintiff Lillian Morris (“Plaintiff” or “Morris”). The FAC 
pleads causes of action for (1) violation of Civil Code § 2923.7; (2) violation of Civil Code 
§ 2923.6; (3) violation of Civil Code § 2924(b); (4) negligence; (5) intentional misrepresentation; 
(6) negligent misrepresentation; (7) promissory estoppel; (8) to set aside trustee’s sale; (9) quiet 
title; (10) elderly financial abuse; and (11) unfair business practices.  

Defendants demur pursuant to Code of Civ. Proc. § 430.10(e) and (f) on several grounds, 
including judicial estoppel. 

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, without leave to amend. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendants request judicial notice of several county recorder documents, pleadings and orders 
from US Bankruptcy Court, Northern District of California (Oakland), and the Complaint Mazhari 
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v. Rushmore Loan Management (Case No. MSC17-00748). This request is unopposed. The 
request is granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453. 

Analysis 

Judicial Estoppel 

As a threshold matter, Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s FAC is barred by the operation of judicial 

estoppel. Defendants raised this issue in their Demurrer to the previous complaint, and the 

Court declined to find that Plaintiff was barred from asserting her claims on the basis of judicial 

estoppel. Once again, the Court declines to sustain the demurrer on judicial estoppel grounds. 

Even though the claims of the FAC are not barred by the operation of judicial estoppel, Plaintiff 

has not alleged facts sufficient to constitute causes of action for (1) violation of Civil Code § 

2923.7; (2) violation of Civil Code § 2923.6; (3) violation of Civil Code § 2924(b); (4) negligence; 

(5) intentional misrepresentation; (6) negligent misrepresentation; (7) promissory estoppel; (8) to 

set aside trustee’s sale; (9) quiet title; (10) elderly financial abuse; and (11) unfair business 

practices. 

HBOR Claims Generally 

As a threshold matter, Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s HBOR claims fail because “she is not 

entitled to the protection of HBOR while she is in bankruptcy.” Demurrer at 13:7-8. 

HBOR’s definition of borrower specifically excludes “[a]n individual who has filed a case under 

Chapter 7, 11, 12, or 13 of Title 11 of the United States Code and the bankruptcy court has not 

entered an order closing or dismissing the bankruptcy case, or granting relief from a stay of 

foreclosure.” Civil Code § 2920.5(c)(2)(C). 

In Opposition, Plaintiff argues that “the dual tracking claim continues beyond September 2015 

and continues even beyond May 2016 when the bankruptcy court granted the motion for relief of 

stay.” Opp. at 4:13-15. Plaintiff also argues that she “continued to pursue her rights to 

foreclosure alternatives while in bankruptcy.” Opp. at 4:18-19. This argument is unclear; it does 

nothing to address the statutory exclusion under HBOR for persons in bankruptcy. 

However, even if Plaintiff’s alleged HBOR violations fell outside of her bankruptcy case, she has 

failed to allege facts sufficient to state claims for violation of § 2923.7, 2923.6, or 2924(b). 

Violation of Civil Code § 2923.7 

Plaintiff alleges that JP Morgan Chase violated section 2923.7 because “Chase failed to 

promptly establish a single point of contact (‘SPOC’) and provide Plaintiff with one or more direct 

means of communication with the SPOC.” FAC at ¶ 68. Plaintiff also alleges that after her note 

was transferred to Rushmore and she contacted it to discuss foreclosure prevention 

alternatives, Rushmore “never assigned a competent SPOC capable of conducting their duties 

… to help her during her review process. Id. at ¶¶ 70, 71. 

Civil Code § 2923.7 requires a SPOC to be appointed when a borrower “requests a foreclosure 
prevention alternative,” such as a loan modification. Civ. Code § 2923.7(a).  
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However, Plaintiff’s FAC fails to allege any material “actual economic damages” as a 

consequence of these alleged violations. HBOR provides relief only for a “material” violation of 

the single point of contact statute. See Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1) (“a borrower may bring an 

action for injunctive relief to enjoin a material violation of Section 2923.5, 2923.7, 2924.11, or 

2924.17.”). Her conclusory allegation that she “suffered damages in an amount not presently 

ascertained [that] will be proved at trial” (FAC at ¶ 77) is insufficient.  

Plaintiff has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for violation of Civil 

Code § 2923.7.  

Violation of Civil Code § 2923.6 

As the Court noted in its prior Order, the prohibition on dual tracking was codified in former 

section 2923.6 that was repealed on January 1, 2018. Prior to January 1, 2018 Civil Code § 

2923.6 prohibited “dual tracking,” wherein a “borrower’s mortgage servicer, a mortgage service, 

mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent” records a notice of default or notice of 

sale, notwithstanding a pending application for a first lien loan modification. Civ. Code § 2923.6 

(repealed January 1, 2018). The ban on “dual tracking” became effective once the borrower 

submitted a “complete application for a first lien loan modification.” Id. at subsection (c). HBOR 

provided injunctive relief only for a “material” violation of the dual tracking statute. See former 

Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1) (“a borrower may bring an action for injunctive relief to enjoin a 

material violation of Section 2923.55, 2923.6, 2923.7, 2924.9, 2924.10, 2924.11, or 2924.17.”). 

The new section 2923.6 does not contain dual tracking prohibitions. See Civil Code § 2923.6 
(operative January 1, 2018). Furthermore, there is also no longer a remedy for a material 
violation of this section codified in § 2924.12. As a consequence, Plaintiff’s claim for violation of 
2923.6 has been abated. See Rankin v. Longs Drug Stores California, Inc. (2009) 169 
Cal.App.4th 1246, 1256 (“[w]hen a pending action seeks recovery based on a statutorily based 
obligation, and that statutory provision is repealed by legislation not containing an express 
saving clause, the California courts have consistently concluded the pending actions should be 
abated.”); see also Governing Board v. Mann (1977) 18 Cal.3d 819, 829 (“[W]hen a pending 
action rests solely on a statutory basis, and when no rights have vested under the statute, ‘a 
repeal of such a statute without a saving clause will terminate all pending actions based 
thereon.’”). 

“Where a right is created solely by a statute, and is dependent upon the statute alone, and such 
right is still inchoate, and not reduced to possession, or perfected by final judgment, the repeal 
of the statute destroys the remedy, unless the repealing statute contains a saving clause.” Napa 
State Hospital v. Flaherty (1901) 134 Cal. 315, 317; see also Krause v. Rarity (1930) 210 Cal. 
644, 652 (where a right of action did not exist at common law, but depends solely upon a 
statute, a repeal of the statute destroys that right unless it has been reduced to final judgment or 
unless the repealing statute contains a saving clause protecting rights in pending litigation).  

As a separate and independent ground for sustaining the demurrer, even if Plaintiff’s claim for 
violation of 2923.6 was not abated, Plaintiff has not alleged a material violation of former 
§ 2923.6. Notwithstanding her opportunity to amend, Plaintiff has failed to allege that any 
technical violations of the dual tracking provisions were “material,” in the sense that but for those 
violations, Defendants would have agreed to a loan modification agreement Plaintiff could have 
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afforded. In the absence of such allegations, Plaintiff has failed to allege that she were damaged 
by any alleged technical violations of § 2923.6. Plaintiff’s conclusory allegation that “had Chase 
helped Plaintiff[ ] when [she] first called, Plaintiff[ ] would not have lost her home because she 
qualifies for, and is entitled to, foreclosure alternatives” is insufficient. FAC at ¶ 93. 

Violation of Civil Code § 2924(b) 

Plaintiff alleges that she “was never served with a copy of the NOD by registered or certified 

mail, as required by section 2924b(b)(1)[.]” FAC at ¶ 96. Despite her prior opportunity to amend, 

Plaintiff does not make any allegations with respect any specific Defendant. Plaintiff has failed to 

state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for violation of Civil Code § 2924(b).  

Negligence 

To state a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the defendant owed the 
plaintiff a duty of care; (2) the defendant breached that duty, and (3) the breach proximately 
caused the plaintiff’s damages or injuries. Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 
Cal. App. 4th 49, 62. “The existence of a duty of care owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is a 
prerequisite to establish a claim for negligence.” Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Ass’n 
(1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1096.  

A lender may owe a borrower duties of care under Civil Code § 1714. See Daniels v. Select 
Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (6th Dist. 2016) 246 Cal. App. 4th 1150, 1158, 1180-1182; Alvarez v. 
BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (1st Dist. 2014) 228 Cal. App. 4th 941, 944-949; Jolley v. 
Chase Home Finance, LLC (1st Dist. 2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872. Plaintiff’s amended 
complaint is replete with references to “Defendants” and “Plaintiff’s lender and/or servicer” 
without specific reference to any defendant by name. As the Court noted in its prior Order, 
neither Defendant Rushmore nor Defendant US Bank were Plaintiff’s lender prior to the 
foreclosure sale. Furthermore, there are no specific allegations with respect to either Defendant 
Rushmore or Defendant US Bank. Even if there were, the FAC fails to allege how any of the 
alleged negligent conduct cause Plaintiff’s default.  

Plaintiff has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for negligence.  

Intentional and Negligent Misrepresentation 

The elements of a cause of action for fraud are: “(1) a misrepresentation, which includes a 
concealment or nondisclosure; (2) knowledge of the falsity of the misrepresentation, i.e., 
scienter; (3) intent to induce reliance on the misrepresentation; (4) justifiable reliance; and (5) 
resulting damages. Small v. Fritz Companies, Inc. (2003) 30 Cal.4th 167, 173. The same 
elements comprise a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation, except there is no 
requirement of intent to induce reliance.” Cadlo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc. (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 
513, 519. “Each element in a cause of action for fraud or negligent misrepresentation must be 
factually and specifically alleged.” Id. 

Here, Plaintiff has failed to allege a specific factual representation. Her general allegations are 
insufficient. In the absence of specificity with respect to who made a factual representation and 
when, Plaintiff has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for either 
intentional or negligent misrepresentation. 
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Promissory Estoppel 

The elements of a promissory estoppel claim are “(1) a promise clear and unambiguous in its 
terms; (2) reliance by the party to whom the promise is made; (3) [the] reliance must be both 
reasonable and foreseeable; and (4) the party asserting the estoppel must be injured by his 
reliance.” Jones v. Wachovia Bank (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 935, 945. 

The basis for Plaintiff’s promissory estoppel claim is that both Chase and Rushmore promised 
that “Plaintiff’s LMA would be reviewed even while foreclosure proceedings were initiated[.]” 
FAC at ¶ 153. There is an overall lack of detail regarding who specifically made the promise, 
when the promise was made, and what the terms of that promise were.  

At best these appear to be conditional “promises” that are neither clear no unambiguous in their 

terms. These alleged promises are fatally uncertain because they contain no essential terms. 

The FAC does not allege that Defendants provided any essential terms such as schedules for 

return of possession or rights and remedies of the parties in case of default. The alleged 

promise is insufficiently clear and unambiguous to support a promissory estoppel claim. See 

Laks v. Coast Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. (1976) 60 Cal.App.3d 885, 891. As a consequence, 

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for promissory estoppel. 

To Set Aside Trustee’s Sale 

“[A]s a condition precedent to an action by the borrower to set aside the trustee’s sale on the 
ground that the sale is voidable because of irregularities in the sale notice or procedure, the 
borrower must offer to pay the full amount of the debt for which the property was security.” Lona 
v. Citibank, N.A. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 89, 112 (“Lona”). “The rationale behind the rule is that if 
[the borrower] could not have redeemed the property had the sale procedures been proper, any 
irregularities in the sale did not result in damages to the [borrower].” FPCI RE-HAB 01 v. E & G 
Investments, Ltd. (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1018, 1022. 

Plaintiff’s allegation that she was “willing and able to tender funds” (FAC at ¶ 166) is not 

tantamount to an allegation that she actually offered to pay the full amount of the debt. 

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts to state a claim to set aside trustee’s sale.  

Quiet Title 

Additionally, Plaintiff has not alleged tender or that she is exempt from the tender requirement. 
There are four exceptions to the tender requirement in the nonjudicial foreclosure context: First, 
if the borrower’s action attacks the validity of the underlying debt, a tender is not required since 
it would constitute an affirmation of the debt. Second, a tender will not be required when the 
person who seeks to set aside the trustee’s sale has a counterclaim or set-off against the 
beneficiary. Third, a tender may not be required where it would be inequitable to impose such a 
condition on the party challenging the sale. Fourth, no tender will be required when the trustor is 
not required to rely on equity to attack the deed because the trustee’s deed is void on its face. 
See Lona v. Citibank, N.A. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 89, 112-13. There are no allegations in the 
FAC that would support any of these exceptions. 

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts to state a claim for quiet title.  
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Elderly Financial Abuse 

Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges financial abuse under Welfare & Institutions Code § 15610.30(a)(2).  

This claim is predicated on the foreclosure of her residence. However, in the absence of an 

alleged “wrongful use” of property, “[i]t is simply not tortious for a commercial lender to lend 

money, take collateral, or to foreclose on collateral when a debt is not paid. … [A] commercial 

lender is privileged to pursue its own economic interests and may properly assert its contractual 

rights.” Stebley v. Litton Loan Servicing, LLP, 202 Cal.App.4th 522, 528 (citing Sierra-Bay Fed. 

Land Bank Assn. v. Superior Court (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 318, 334–335). 

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts to state a claim for elderly financial abuse, based on 

foreclosure of her residence. 

Unfair Business Practices 

California’s unfair competition law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 
unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 
practice. § 17200. A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person who has suffered injury 
in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 
§ 17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 
deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that 
the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the 
gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 
(“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under the UCL. See Korea Supply 
Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

The alleged unfair conduct complained of appears to be Defendants’ alleged statutory 
violations. However, Plaintiff’s FAC is bereft of allegations which would demonstrate economic 
injury and causation. Her boilerplate recitations at paragraph 196 are insufficient. In the absence 
of allegations that he incurred a “personal, individualized loss of money or property in any 
nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 325), such as late fees and penalties, that 
were caused by Defendants’ unfair and fraudulent conduct, Plaintiff has not alleged facts 
sufficient to state a cause of action for violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200. 

 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02098 
CASE NAME: MORRIS VS JP MORGAN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of MORRIS FILED BY 
JP MORGAN CHASE BANK 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a Demurrer filed by Defendant JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“Defendant” or 
“Chase”). The Demurrer relates to the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) filed by Plaintiff Lillian 
Morris (“Plaintiff” or “Morris”). For the reasons set forth in Line 9, above, the Demurrer is 
sustained, without leave to amend. 
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11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02098 
CASE NAME: MORRIS VS JP MORGAN 
CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02443 
CASE NAME: MAES VS CSAA INSURANCE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR LEAVE TO FILE FIRST AMENDED ANSWER 
FILED BY DERRICK MAPP 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Granted pursuant to stipulation of the parties. 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00124 
CASE NAME: KETCHUM VS PENNACCHI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR LEAVE TO FILE FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
FILED BY ERIC SMITH KETCHUM 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Continued to July 5, 2018 at 9:00 AM in Department 33 so that Defendant Pennacchi, who 
claims he didn’t get adequate notice of this motion, can file an opposition. CMC conference is 
continued to that same date and time as well.  

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL10-11578 
CASE NAME: STATE FARM VS CALLEN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ENFORCE THE STLMT AGREEMENT AND ENTER 
JUDGMENT FILED BY STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMP 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Vacated. 
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15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL12-04214 
CASE NAME: CACH VS RODRIGUEZ 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ASSIGNMENT ORDER FOR RETNS/RESTRAINING 
JUDG DEBTOR FILED BY CACH, LLC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-04805 
CASE NAME: BANK OF AMERICA VS. AMES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ORDER FOR ADMISSIONS OF TRUTH/FACTS BE 
ADMITTED, FILED BY BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN18-0828 
CASE NAME: IN RE U. CULBERSON 
HEARING ON PETITION TO/FOR APRPOVAL FOR TRANSFER OF PAYMENT 
RIGHTS FILED BY J.G. WENTWORTH ORIGINATIONS, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 


